ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED

JUL 01 2014

SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from York County

John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

HUBERT FLOYD BROWN, JR.,

APPELLANT,

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2013-001543

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CARMEN V. GANJEHSANI
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1343

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Appellant is entitled to a new trial where the Trial Court erred in instructing the jury that the charge of attempted murder does not require a specific intent to kill.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On September 13, 2012, Appellant Hubert Floyd Brown was indicted by the York County Grand Jury for (1) attempted murder and (2) first degree burglary. R. 264 - 267.

Appellant was tried before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III and a jury on July 9-11, 2013. R. 1. Appellant was represented by David C. Cook, and the State was represented by Assistant Solicitor E.B. Springs. Id.

On July 11, 2013, the jury found Appellant guilty as charged. R. 258, ll. 17-25. Pursuant to S.C. CODE ANN. § 17-25-45, the State had served notice of its intention to seek life imprisonment without the possibility of parole ("LWOP"). R. 259, l. 5 – 260, l. 9. Judge Hayes sentenced Appellant to two LWOP sentences on each of the charges. R. 262, ll. 2-3; R. 263, 266 (Sentencing sheets).

Appellant timely filed and served the Notice of Appeal on July 12, 2013.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

The charges against Appellant stem from an altercation he was involved in on the evening of June 8, 2012 with Michael Mahoney and Christopher Calvert. Mahoney had been a good friend of Appellant and had worked with Appellant at Rock Hill Industrial Pipe and Fabrication. R. 22, l. 9 – 23, l. 12. Appellant had been laid off of work at Rock Hill Industrial Pipe and Fabrication approximately six months prior to the night of the incident. R. 23, ll. 3-9. After Appellant was laid off from work, Mahoney hired Appellant to complete certain jobs around Mahoney's house, such as building a chicken coop and constructing a privacy fence. R. 23, ll. 13-25.

On June 8, 2012, Mahoney and Christopher Calvert worked a half day at Rock Hill Industrial Pipe and Fabrication. R. 28, ll. 6-10. Calvert also resided at Mahoney's home, along with Mahoney's wife, Amy, and another individual named Billy Odom who had passed away by the time of trial. R. 22, ll. 2-8. Mahoney and Calvert first went home after they got off of work for the day. Around dinnertime, the two decided to go to Hooter's restaurant. R. 28, l. 16 – 29, l. 6.

Around 9:00 p.m. that evening, while Mahoney and Calvert were still at Hooter's, Mahoney had a telephone conversation with Appellant. Mahoney asked Appellant if he wanted to join Mahoney and Calvert at the restaurant, but Appellant declined. Mahoney invited Appellant to meet them back at Mahoney's house a little while later, and Appellant agreed. R. 29, l. 12 – 30, l. 2.

Mahoney and Calvert left Hooter's shortly thereafter and returned home. Approximately five minutes after they arrived at the house, Appellant pulled up in his vehicle. R. 30, ll. 3-12.

Appellant's wife and children were with him when he went to Mahoney's house. R. 30, l. 25 – 31, l. 2; 70, ll. 4-8. Appellant got out of his vehicle and came over to talk to Mahoney. Appellant asked Mahoney if the two could go around back to talk by themselves. The two walked around to the back of the house to talk. R. 31, ll. 5-14.

According to Mahoney, the two eventually began talking about work, and Mahoney alleged that Appellant told him "you wouldn't have your job if I wasn't there to watch your back." Mahoney said Appellant got in his face and began pointing at him with his right finger. Mahoney testified that he pushed Appellant. R. 33, ll. 2-11. After Mahoney pushed Appellant, Mahoney alleged that Appellant began swinging at him and the two ended up tussling on the ground. R. 34, l. 12 – 35, l. 14.

Calvert had remained by Mahoney's truck when Appellant and Mahoney went around back to talk. R. 32, ll. 15-17. At trial, Calvert admitted that he had snorted cocaine in the bathroom of Hooter's earlier that evening. R. 68, ll. 15-18. Calvert also admitted to previous convictions of assault and battery of a high and aggravated nature and petty larceny. R. 83, ll. 6-12.

Calvert heard a commotion so he went around back. He saw Mahoney and Appellant wrestling on the ground and said Appellant had rolled on top of Mahoney. Calvert then hit Appellant on the head with a gear shift. R. 71, l. 2 – 72, l. 21.

Mahoney testified that after Calvert hit Appellant on the head, "a whole bunch of blood started gushing down [Appellant's] face. R. 36, ll. 7-8. Mahoney said Appellant was "completely dazed," and Appellant was "mumbling trying to get the words out of his mouth that he ha[d] been hit" R. 36, ll. 2-10.

Calvert admitted to hitting Appellant hard and testified that Appellant had come to after being hit. R. 73, ll. 2-11. Appellant had a severe laceration on his head and suffered a skull fracture that crossed both the left and right cerebral hemispheres. R. 91, l. 17; 94, ll. 17-18; 156, l. 20 – 157, l. 7. Dr. Carol Walser, a neurological psychologist, would later evaluate Appellant, and she testified at trial that Appellant had suffered a traumatic brain injury as a result of the blow to Appellant's head by Calvert. R. 97, ll. 19-25; 137, ll. 13-15; 138, ll. 4-6; 140, l. 9 – 141, l. 20; 143, ll. 23-25. Dr. Walser opined that immediately following the blow to Appellant's head, Appellant was not able to think clearly, speak clearly, and act in a rational way due to the head injury. R. 143, ll. 2-10; 144, ll. 3-4.

At trial, Mahoney testified that after Calvert struck Appellant on the head, Appellant eventually went back to his vehicle, pulled out a hatchet, and began chasing Calvert around the yard. R. 37, ll. 17 – 38, l. 7. Mahoney claimed that Appellant yelled he would kill them. R. 37, ll. 10-24. According to Mahoney, Appellant then went to his vehicle to retrieve a machete and began chasing Calvert again, at one point running through the house. R. 38, l. 22 – 39, l. 22. Mahoney testified that Appellant eventually got back in his vehicle. Mahoney saw the vehicle leave the driveway. R. 42, ll. 3-8.

Mahoney and Calvert went inside the house to the bathroom to wash up. R. 43, ll. 23-24. While they were washing up, Appellant allegedly appeared in the bathroom swinging the machete. R. 77, ll. 14-24. Calvert threw his hands up, and the machete hit his hand. His thumb was partially severed. R. 78, ll. 9-23.

Mahoney's wife, Amy Mahoney, also testified at trial as to her observation of the events on the evening of June 8, 2012. During the incident, she heard Calvert making threats to Appellant. R. 89, ll. 25 – 90, l. 10.

Appellant was later charged with attempted murder and first degree burglary. No charges were ever brought against Calvert for the severe head injury he inflicted upon Appellant.

ARGUMENT

Appellant is entitled to a new trial where the Trial Court erred in instructing the jury that the charge of attempted murder does not require a specific intent to kill.

The Trial Court charged the jury that “[a] specific intent is not an element of attempted murder but it must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury.” R. 233, l. 25 – 234, l. 2. The jury later requested to hear the charge on attempted murder again. R. 249, ll. 14-19; R. 269 (Court’s Ex. 9). The Trial Court again repeated the charge that specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder but there must be a general intent to commit the serious bodily injury. R. 251, ll. 21-22. Following the re-charge, the solicitor informed the Trial Court that attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill and not just a mere general intent. R. 255, l. 21 – 256, l. 2. The Trial Court disagreed and declined to charge that attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill, stating: “Well that’s what I’ve got in my charge and – a specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder. There must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury.” R. 256, ll. 3-6.¹

The Trial Court’s ruling was erroneous. Attempted murder is defined by statute as: “A person who, *with intent to kill*, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-29 (emphasis added). This statute became effective on June 2, 2010 and replaced the

¹ While Appellant’s counsel did not also object, the issue is nonetheless preserved for this Court’s review where the Trial Court considered the issue and ruled upon it. Any further objection by Appellant’s counsel would have been futile. See State v. Alexander, 309 S.C. 495, 499 n.1, 424 S.E.2d 526, 529 n.1 (Ct. App. 1992). This Court does not require the parties to engage in futile actions to preserve issues for appellate review. Fettler v. Gentner, 396 S.C. 461, 469, 722 S.E.2d 26, 31 (Ct. App. 2012).

common law statute of assault and battery with intent to kill, formerly S.C. CODE ANN. § 16-3-620.

The statute defining attempted murder requires a specific intent to kill. In State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000), the South Carolina Supreme Court declined to recognize the offense of attempted murder which had not yet been codified. The court, in its reasoning, observed that an attempt to commit murder requires a specific intent to kill:

In general, “[a]ttempt is a specific intent crime.” 21 Am.Jur.2d Criminal Law § 176 (1998). “The act constituting the attempt must be done with the intent to commit that particular crime.” Id. See also Wharton's Criminal Law Attempt §§ 694-695 (1996) (“To constitute an attempt, there must be an intent to commit a particular crime ... Although a murder may be committed without an intent to kill, an attempt to commit murder requires a specific intent to kill.”) In the context of an “attempt” crime, specific intent means that the defendant consciously intended the completion of acts comprising the choate offense. In other words, the completion of such acts is the defendant's purpose. United States v. Calloway, 116 F.3d 1129 (6th Cir.1997). ***Attempted murder would require the specific intent to kill and conduct towards that end.*** ABIK requires an unlawful act of violence to the person of another with malice. Clearly, each offense has an element the other does not. However, simply because convictions for both offenses would not violate double jeopardy, we are not constrained to recognize the offense of attempted murder.

Sutton, 340 S.C. at 397, 532 S.E.2d at 285 (footnote omitted) (emphasis added).

By charging the jury that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder, the Trial Court incorrectly stated the law to the jury. “To warrant reversal, a trial judge's refusal to give a requested jury charge must be both erroneous and prejudicial to the defendant.” State v. Mattison, 388 S.C. 469, 479, 697 S.E.2d 578, 583 (2010). “A trial court has a duty to give a requested instruction that is supported by the evidence and correctly states the law applicable to the issues.” State v. Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. 388, 405, 649 S.E.2d 41, 50 (Ct. App. 2007). A trial court commits reversible error

where it fails to give a requested charge on an issue raised by the evidence. Id. at 406, 649 S.E.2d at 50.

Appellant was prejudiced by the Trial Court's charge to the jury that attempted murder did not require a specific intent to kill. There was ample evidence presented at trial that despite Mahoney's and Calvert's allegations that Appellant was yelling that he was going to kill them, Appellant had just suffered a serious and traumatic head and brain injury that caused him to behave irrationally. R. 91, l. 17; 94, ll. 17-18; 97, ll. 19-25; 137, ll. 13-15; 138, ll. 4-6; 140, l. 9 – 141, l. 20; 143, ll. 2-10, 23-25; 144, ll. 3-4; 156, l. 20 – 157, l. 7. The State' expert, Dr. Richard Frierson, a forensic psychiatrist, agreed that if a person was operating under a specific delusion while making certain statements or engaging in certain actions, then that person would lack criminal responsibility. R. 174, ll. 23-25; 186, ll. 1-7; 188, ll. 5-7. Dr. Frierson further acknowledged that if someone stated their intent of what he or she planned to do, that person could be criminally irresponsible if his or her intent was based in delusion. R. 187, ll. 16-18. Thus, there was evidence that Appellant did not know what he was doing immediately after he suffered the blow to his head and that any statements he made or actions he took may have been based in delusion, thus negating any specific intent to kill.

Had the Trial Court correctly charged the jury that attempted murder required a specific intent to kill, the evidence presented at trial certainly could have supported a jury finding that Appellant lacked this requisite intent. Instead, the jury was informed that the law did not require a specific intent to kill for the charge of attempted murder.

It cannot be said, beyond a reasonable doubt, that a charge that Appellant must have specifically intended to kill Calvert would not have made a difference in the

outcome of the case. See Lee-Grigg, 374 S.C. at 414, 649 S.E.2d at 55 (“For the error to be harmless, [this Court] must determine beyond a reasonable doubt the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict obtained.”); see also State v. Buckner, 341 S.C. 241, 247, 534 S.E.2d 15, 18 (Ct. App. 2000) (“In making a harmless error analysis, [the Court’s] inquiry is not what the verdict would have been had the jury been given the correct charge, but whether the erroneous charge contributed to the verdict rendered.”). The Trial Court’s erroneous charge to the jury that attempted murder does not require a specific intent to kill mandates reversal in this case.

The Trial Court’s erroneous jury charge on attempted murder further requires reversal of Appellant’s convictions for both attempted murder and first degree burglary. While the erroneous jury charge only related to attempted murder, the indictment against Appellant for first degree burglary alleged that Appellant entered the dwelling with “the intent to commit the crime of assault on a person or persons inside the dwelling.” R.* The attack on Calvert was therefore the underlying offense for the charge of first degree burglary.