**ORIGINAL**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from York County  
The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2013-001543

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

HUBERT FLOYD BROWN, JR.,

Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

JENNIFER ELLIS ROBERTS  
Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211  
(803) 734-3727

KEVIN S. BRACKETT  
Solicitor, Sixteenth Judicial Circuit

1675-1A York Highway  
Moss Justice Center  
York, SC 29745  
(803) 628-3020

**RECEIVED**

JUN 19 2014

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

---

## **STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL**

Appellant's issue is not preserved for appellate review, but even if it is preserved, the trial court properly instructed the jury on attempted murder.

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A York County Grand Jury indicted Appellant for attempted murder and first-degree burglary. (R.p.264-265; R.p.267-268.) On July 9-11, 2013, Appellant proceeded to trial before a jury. David C. Cook, Esquire, represented Appellant, and Assistant Solicitor E.B. Springs represented the State. The jury found Appellant guilty on both charges. (R. p.258.) The Honorable John C. Hayes, III, sentenced him to two sentences of life without parole pursuant to § 17-25-45. (R. p.261-262.)

Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal and then filed an amended Notice of Appeal, dated July 31, 2013, upon the direction of this Court.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

On June 8, 2012, Appellant went to the home of his friend and former coworker, Michael Mahoney, to confront him about Mahoney's keeping his job while Appellant had lost his, which led to Appellant punching Mahoney. (R. p.28, lines 3-8; R. p.31, lines 5-14; R. p.33, line 2-R. p.35, line 7.) They ended up wrestling on the ground. (R. p.35, lines 7-14.) While they were wrestling, Chris Calvert, who was living with Mahoney at the time, came up behind Appellant and hit him in the head with a gear shift to stop his attack on Mahoney. (R. p.71, line 21-R. p.73, line 1.) Appellant then grabbed a hatchet from the trunk of his vehicle and began chasing Calvert, telling him he was going to kill him. (R. p.74, lines 1-14.) At some point, Appellant put down the hatchet and got a machete out of his trunk and began to chase Calvert with it. (R. p.75, lines 5-10.) Appellant was bleeding profusely at this point, and Mahoney tried to convince him to go to the hospital. After threatening to kill both men, Appellant got in his car and started to drive away. (R. p.76, lines 10-19.) Mahoney and Calvert went inside Mahoney's house and began to clean themselves up in the bathroom, while Mahoney's wife called 911. (R. p.77, lines 2-12.) Suddenly, Mahoney's wife started screaming; Appellant was in the house with the machete. (R. p.77, lines 14-24.) Appellant swung the machete toward Calvert's head and Calvert threw his hand up. (R. p.78, lines 1-11.) The machete hit his hand, cutting his thumb off most of the way so that it was hanging by the skin. (R. p.78, lines 12-23.) When Deputy Mark Whitesides arrived on the scene in response to the 911 call, he talked to the witnesses and developed Appellant as a suspect. (R. p.19, line 18-R. p.20, line 4.) Police eventually arrested Appellant in Walterboro, and he was charged with attempted murder and first-degree burglary. (R. p.92, lines 3-4; R. p.93, lines 5-10; R.p.264-265; R.p.267-268.)

Appellant proceeded to trial before the Honorable John C. Hayes, III, and a jury. The trial judge gave the standard charges on reasonable doubt, burden of proof, and presumption of innocence, as well as a charge on guilty but mentally ill. (R. p.222, line 18-R. p.225, line 9; R. p.239, line 8-R. p.240, line 18.) When the trial judge instructed the jury regarding the attempted murder charge, he stated:

A specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder but it must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury. Intent means intending the results. Intent is something which actually occurs and it's something which is not accidental or voluntary.

Intent may be shown by acts and conduct[] of the defendant and other circumstances from which you may naturally and reasonably infer intent. Evidence of the character of the act, the character of the instrument used, the manner in which it was used, the purpose to be accomplished, and the resulting wounds or injury may be considered in determining the intent with which the act was committed. Intent may also be inferred when it is demonstrated that the defendant voluntarily and willfully committed an act a natural tendency of which is to destroy another's life.

(R. p.233, line 25-R. p.235, line 11.) At the completion of the jury charges, defense counsel asked the trial judge to cure his charges regarding the defense of guilty but mentally ill. (R. p.246, lines 9-15.) The trial judge agreed and brought the jury back in for a curative instruction. (R. p.246, line 16-R. p.248, line 3.) The trial judge specifically asked defense counsel, "And that's all you have?" to which he replied, "That's it, Your Honor." (R. p.246, lines 24-25.)

Later, the jury sent a note requesting to be recharged on attempted murder. (R. p.249, lines 14-19.) The trial judge recharged attempted murder, again stating, "A specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder but there must be a general intent to commit the serious bodily injury." (R. p.251, lines 21-23.) When the trial judge

asked whether there was anything from the State on the recharge, the following exchange took place:

[The State]: The first time you charged this morning I was daydreaming and I wasn't daydreaming this time and I heard you say that only a general and not a specific intent for attempted murder is required. I think all attempts require[] a specific intent and I don't think the legislature has given us any leeway on that.

The Court: Well that's what I've got in my charge and - A specific intent to kill is not an element of attempted murder. There must be a general intent to commit serious bodily injury.

[The State]: I know it was general when we had ABWIK but when we went to attempted - -

The Court: That's what I charged them earlier. If you find some law that says that that's not right, that's in my charge and it's in my charge under the heading of Attempted Murder under 16-3-29. I don't see a case cited. But you take exception to that part of the charge?

[The State]: I'm just concerned because the way I was taught all attempts are specific intent. And so when we went from ABWIK which is a general intent to attempted murder I'm afraid maybe we kicked in a specific intent.

The Court: You mean if I have a general intent to harm you and I harm Chris instead, or have a general intent to hurt everybody in here and the only person except Chris and he's the one I hurt and - -

[The State]: Well that can be transferred intent.

The Court: Well you're on the record for that.

[The State]: All right.

The Court: Anything?

[Defense counsel]: **Nothing from the defense, Your Honor.**

(R. p.255, line 21-R. p.257, line 2.)

Ultimately, the jury found Appellant guilty on both charges, and Judge Hayes sentenced him to concurrent sentences of life without parole pursuant to § 17-25-45. (R. p.258, 261-262.)

## ARGUMENT

**Appellant's issue is not preserved for appellate review because he did not request a particular jury charge or object to the given charges, but even if it is preserved, the trial court properly instructed the jury on attempted murder.**

Appellant argues the trial court erred in instructing the jury that the charge of attempted murder does not require a specific intent to kill. However, because Appellant did not object to the given jury instructions or request a particular charge, this issue is not preserved for this Court's review. Even if preserved, the trial court gave proper jury instructions according to the current and correct law of South Carolina.

### Issue Preservation

Appellant argues the trial judge erred in charging the jury that attempted murder does not require a specific intent to kill. However, at trial, Appellant raised no objection to this charge in any form or fashion. See State v. Avery, 333 S.C. 284, 296, 509 S.E.2d 476, 483 (1998) (holding when an appellant fails to object to a jury instruction, the issue is not preserved for appeal); State v. Stone, 285 S.C. 386, 387, 330 S.E.2d 286, 287 (1985) (holding in order to preserve an objection to a jury charge, a defendant must object to the charge as given or request an additional charge when afforded the opportunity to do so); State v. Williams, 266 S.C. 325, 335, 223 S.E.2d 38, 43 (1976) ("The rule in this State is firmly established that failure to object to a charge, or failure to request an additional charge when the opportunity is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right to complain on appeal of an alleged error in the charge."); State v. Todd, 264 S.C. 136, 139, 213 S.E.2d 99, 100 (1975) ("In cases too numerous to cite, . . . it has been held that the failure of a defendant to object to the charge as made or to request additional instructions, when the opportunity to do so is afforded, constitutes a waiver of any right

to complain of errors in the charge.”) (citations omitted); see also Rule 20(b), SCRCrimP (“Notwithstanding any request for legal instructions, the parties shall be given the opportunity to object to the giving or failure to give an instruction before the jury retires. Any objection shall state distinctly the matter objected to and the grounds for objection. Failure to object in accordance with this rule shall constitute a waiver of objection.”). Because Appellant failed to object, the issue is not preserved for appellate review.

In a footnote, Appellant suggests the issue is preserved because the trial court considered it and ruled upon it. However, this suggestion ignores well-established error preservation requirements. The only party that brought up the issue was the State, and our preservation rules make it clear that the party appealing must have been the one to object. “There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. The issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the trial court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the trial court with sufficient specificity.” State v. Brown, 402 S.C. 119, 125 n.2, 740 S.E.2d 493, 496 n.2 (2013) (emphasis added) (citing JEAN H. TOAL, SHAHIN VAFAI & ROBERT A. MUCKENFUSS, *Appellate Practice in South Carolina* 57 (2nd ed. 2002)). After the State commented to the trial court that specific intent was required, the trial court asked the State if it could “find some law that says that that’s not right.” At that point, defense counsel could have provided law to the trial court to support the claim that attempted murder required specific intent. However, he did nothing. Thus, no issue was “raised by Appellant.”

Moreover, even if this Court accepts Appellant’s notion that the State’s comments regarding specific intent somehow qualified as an “objection” on behalf of Appellant, it is important to note the comments came after the trial court’s recharge rather than in

response to the original jury charges. Thus, the “objection” was not made at the first opportunity. See Lundy v. Lititz Mut. Ins. Co., 232 S.C. 1, 10, 100 S.E.2d 544, 548 (1957) (“Appellant cannot now complain of the Court’s repeating substantially the same instructions to which counsel failed to object when given an opportunity to do so.”). Additionally, his argument that it would have been futile to make any “further objection” misconstrues the record. Appellant did not make *any* objection so he certainly could not have made a further one.

#### Merits

“Generally, the trial judge is required to charge only the current and correct law of South Carolina.” State v. Zeigler, 364 S.C. 94, 106, 610 S.E.2d 859, 865 (Ct. App. 2005). “A jury charge is correct if, when the charge is read as a whole, it contains the correct definition and adequately covers the law.” Id.

Even if this Court finds the issue was preserved, the trial court properly instructed the jury on attempted murder. “A person who, with intent to kill, attempts to kill another person with malice aforethought, either expressed or implied, commits the offense of attempted murder.” S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-29 (Supp. 2013). The trial judge stated in his instructions that specific intent is not an element of attempted murder, which is an accurate statement of the law.<sup>1</sup> The word “specific” is not used in the statute. Because jury charges must be read as a whole to determine if they are correct, the entire charge on intent must be considered. Although the trial judge stated that “specific” intent is not an element of the crime charged, he went over “intent” extensively:

---

<sup>1</sup> Indeed, the trial court’s jury instruction came directly from the current version of the Criminal Charges Bench Book, which the judicial department updates each year and distributes to judges and that is now published on the S.C. Judicial Department’s website. <http://www.judicial.state.sc.us/juryCharges/GS%20InstructionsJune2013.pdf>.

Intent means intending the results. Intent is something which actually occurs and it's something which is not accidental or voluntary.

Intent may be shown by acts and conduct[] of the defendant and other circumstances from which you may naturally and reasonably infer intent. Evidence of the character of the act, the character of the instrument used, the manner in which it was used, the purpose to be accomplished, and the resulting wounds or injury may be considered in determining the intent with which the act was committed. Intent may also be inferred when it is demonstrated that the defendant voluntarily and willfully committed an act a natural tendency of which is to destroy another's life.

(R. p.234, line 2-R. p.235, line 11.)

The standard jury instruction for attempted murder is based on State v. Foust, 325 S.C. 12, 15-16, 479 S.E.2d 50, 51-52 (1996), which is still good law in South Carolina.

Although the cases indicate that **some** intent must be demonstrated before an accused may be convicted of ABIK, we do not believe they stand for the proposition that a **specific** intent to kill must be shown. We hold that it is sufficient if there is shown some general intent, such as that heretofore applied in cases of murder in this State. Accordingly, we hold that, in charging juries the law of ABIK, South Carolina trial judges should give a standard "intent" charge, but need not advise the jury that the defendant must have a **specific** intent to kill before he may be convicted of ABIK.

Id.

Even though Appellant did not object to any portion of the jury charges, he is not even arguing that the trial court erred in all its other instructions on intent. He only now objects to the trial judge saying that specific intent is not an element of attempted murder. When the whole charge on intent is considered, it is clear there was no prejudice to Appellant simply from the trial judge's statement that specific intent is not an element of attempted murder. Appellant argues he was prejudiced because if the jury had been told

it had to determine that Appellant had specific intent to kill in order to find him guilty of attempted murder, it may have acquitted. He contends there was ample evidence presented that he was operating under a delusion due to a traumatic brain injury and could not have had a specific intent to kill. However, due to the remainder of the intent language charged, the jury could still have considered: (1) whether his conduct was accidental or voluntary; (2) acts and conduct and other circumstances from which it could naturally and reasonably infer intent; (3) evidence of the character of the act, the character of the instrument used, the manner in which it was used, the purpose to be accomplished, and the resulting wounds or injury; and (4) whether Appellant voluntarily and willfully committed an act a natural tendency of which was to destroy another's life. As noted above, Appellant had no objection to these additional charges, either at trial or now on appeal. Based on the considerations regarding intent, the jury could certainly have found Appellant guilty based on his conduct, the weapons he used, and the injury to the victim.

Furthermore, Appellant's argument that the first-degree burglary conviction must be reversed along with the attempted murder conviction is utterly without merit. As the trial court pointed out in its jury instructions, there were many crimes Appellant may have intended to commit while inside Mahoney's house and any one of them would support a guilty verdict on the burglary charge. The different crimes presented were: (1) entering while armed with a deadly weapon; (2) entering to cause physical harm to someone; (3) entering using a dangerous object; (4) entering while displaying what appeared to be a knife; or (5) entering in the nighttime. (R. p.230, lines 20-R. p.231, line 20.) Therefore, Appellant's argument that the trial court erred in his instructing the jury that no specific intent is required for attempted murder has nothing to do with the jury's

finding Appellant guilty of first-degree burglary. There is no way to now determine what the jury based its finding on. Thus, the first-degree burglary conviction should stand on its own.

Appellant cites language from State v. Sutton, 340 S.C. 393, 532 S.E.2d 283 (2000), in support of his argument, stating, “Attempted murder would require the specific intent to kill . . . .” Id. at 397, 532 S.E.2d at 285. Appellant then argues, “By charging the jury that specific intent to kill was not an element of attempted murder, the Trial Court incorrectly stated the law to the jury.” (App. Br. 10.) To the contrary, Sutton did not make specific intent an element of statutory attempted murder because it was decided prior to the codification of the crime in 2010. Thus, the trial court’s charge was not an incorrect statement of the law based on Sutton.

In sum, Appellant did not object to the trial court’s jury instructions regarding attempted murder. Any comments by the State to the recharge regarding specific intent did not operate as an objection on the part of Appellant. Therefore, the issue is not preserved for appellate review. Regardless, the trial court properly charged the jury based on the current and correct law. Accordingly, this Court should affirm the trial court.

**CONCLUSION**


For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.